




Established on July 13th, 2008

(Previously established on April 2nd, 2002 as a company with limited liability)

Paid up Capital KD 10,000,000

Divided into 100,000,000 share

Par value 100 Fils / share





Gatehouse Capital – Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (Closed) and Subsidiaries, Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
31 December 2018





H.H. Sheikh

Sabah Al Ahmed Al Jaber Al Sabah
The Amir of  the State of  Kuwait





H.H. Sheikh

Nawaf Al Ahmed Al Jaber Al Sabah
The Crown Prince





TABLE OF CONTENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13

SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES ...................................................................................................................................................................... 15

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT  ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 17

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT .......................................................................................................................................................................... 19

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ............................................................................................................................................................................... 32

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT INCOME ..................................................................................................................................................................... 34

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  ................................................................................................ 35

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ................................................................................................................ 36

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  ......................................................................................................................................... 37

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ................................................................................................................. 38

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  ............................................................................................................................................................ 39





13ANNUAL REPORT 2018    |    GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Chairman

Abdulaziz Saud Al Bader
Vice Chairman

Mohamad Tawfik Al Tahawy
Board Member

Charles Haresnape
Board Member

Abdulla Alghanim
Board Member





15ANNUAL REPORT 2018    |    GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Global Securities House - France

Global Securities House - USA

Weaver Point Company - USA

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES





17ANNUAL REPORT 2018    |    GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the Fiscal Year Ended on 31 December 2018

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful. 

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2018 marked a period in transition for Gatehouse Capital (“the Company”), following the recent departures of 
former members of  Executive Management. The Company saw positive developments in significant areas of  the business, 
amidst shifting internal, market and regulatory forces. The board of  directors appointed a new Executive team, consisting of 
Mr. Khaled Al-Baijan as acting CEO and Ms. Aysha Al Mudhaf  as acting COO. 

The Executive Team’s focus for 2018 was developing Gatehouse Capital’s corporate identity and corporate governance and 
on streamlining the Company’s operations. On the regulatory front, the firm received approval in November 2017 from the 
Capital Markets Authority (CMA) to act as a licensed Placement Agent and Investment Manager in the State of  Kuwait. The 
Company has since been ensuring compliance with the principles of  corporate governance in accordance with Law 7/2010, 
regarding the Establishment of  the Capital Markets, as mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report. Attaining the CMA 
License for these business activities was an important milestone and stepping stone in that it grants the Company the ability to 
structure and execute its own transactions, while expanding the potential universe of  customers to include institutional clients.

Moreover, the Executive team has been working on streamlining the Operations department’s workflow, by implementing a 
new operations software and altering the department’s internal processes and reporting lines to streamline department output. 

Gatehouse Capital reported an underlying net income of  KD 4.1m for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, which was 
slightly higher than last year’s income of  KD 4.0m, mainly driven by stable revenues. Additionally, the Company reported 
a net profit of  KD 2.2m, which was broadly in line with 2017. One of  the main contributors to net profit was promote 
related performance fees from the exceptional sale of  United States Industrial Portfolio Aggregation (USIPA) in early 2018. The 
decision to sell USIPA early came about after receiving a very attractive unsolicited offer which was well above the market price.

The Company successfully acquired additional property investments in 2018, bolstering its assets under management to just 
over $1.5 billion as of  year-end. The first quarter of  2018 saw the acquisition of  Bluelinx, a portfolio comprising four mission 
critical properties leased to BlueLinx Holdings Inc., a New York Stock exchange listed leading wholesale distributor of  building 
and industrial products, situated in the Northeast, and Southeast regions of  the U.S. The acquisition of  BlueLinx mission-critical 
assets represented a formidable achievement for Gatehouse and its investors in light of  the fact that the assets were acquired at 
below market value within a very short timeframe of  about six weeks, at the turn of  the new year, after rigorous negotiations. 
Furthermore, the market reacted very positively to the transaction, as evidenced by the fact that the stock traded at just under 
two and a half  times its value at year end, compared with when the transaction closed in January 2018. 

In addition to BlueLinx, three industrial properties were added to United States Industrial Portfolio Aggregation (USIPA 
II) platform throughout 2018; USIPA II comprises an industrial aggregation platform which commenced in June 2017. The 
investment comprises eight long-term leased properties to six tenants across seven states in the U.S. The fourth quarter of  the 
year saw the acquisition of  LPOC Real Estate Fund, a portfolio of  four contiguous buildings that are each leased to four agencies 
of  the State of  Minnesota (S&P: AA+). The acquisition of  LPOC underscored the Company’s strategy of  acquiring long-term 
stabilized properties with a robust covenant strength.

Lastly, with its third and potentially largest foray into the UK Private Rented (PRS) space, Gatehouse Bank is continuing to 
grow and develop its PRS fund, seeking capital from world renowned institutional strategic partners. The Gatehouse Group’s 
PRS platform began with two distinct investment products, Thistle and UK PRS Fund, which were a collaboration between the 
affiliate bank and Gatehouse Capital. The investment thesis for earlier PRS investment products capitalized on the notion that 
there continues to be strong demand and a structural undersupply of  premium, rental accommodation throughout the UK. The 
formidable partnership between Gatehouse Bank and Gatehouse Capital in the PRS space will continuously bring value to the 
Group and its shareholders and will continue to provide new investment opportunities for clients.

I would like to conclude by thanking our Shareholders for their continued support and wisdom as the Company continues to 
grow sustainably. I also wish to express my appreciation to the Group’s employees, without whom 2018 would not have been 
as successful as it was.

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Chairman
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Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C. spares no effort to ensure compliance with all instructions and decisions issued by the Capital 
Markets Authority (CMA), in particular those stated under Article 3.7 of  Module 15 “Corporate Governance” of  the Executive 
Regulations of  the Law No. 7/2010 regarding the Establishment of  the Capital Markets Authority and Regulation of  Securities 
Activity and the amendments thereto. Enumerated below the actions taken during 2018 to fulfill all the regulatory requirements 
and adopt the corporate governance policies in line with the relevant CMA instructions:

Rule (1): Balanced Structure of  the Board

1. Criteria of Board Membership:
The Board of  Directors (BoD) of  Gatehouse Capital comprises of  5 members. BoD formation considers, inter alia, qualifications, 
diversified experience and professionalism. In addition, BoD members are mostly non-executive directors and include one 
independent director reflecting a balanced structure that enables BoD discharge its duties and responsibilities by laying down 
the Company’s strategy and policies, setting its targets and overseeing the performance of  the executive management. The 
following table sets out the names of  qualifications of  BoD:

Name Designation (Executive / Non-
executive / Independent) Qualification & Experience Election/Appointment 

Date

Fahed F. Boodai
Chairman

Non-executive
MBA, 21 year experience in finance 

and management
27 December 2015

Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader Vice Chairman / Executive
MBA, 38 year experience in finance 

and management
14 march 2017

Mohamad T. Al-Tahawy BoD Member / Independent
MBA, 28 year experience in finance 

and management
27 December 2015

Charles Haresnape BoD Member / Non-executive Bachelor of  Law , 40 year experience 
in finance and management 23 October 2018

Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim BoD Member / Independent
Bachelor of  Sciences , 8 year 

experience in finance and management
23 October 2018

2. Board Meetings
BoD meetings are regularly held based on an invitation by the Chairman. For the purpose of  BoD meetings, each BoD 
member is provided with the meeting agenda along with the related information and data at least three working days prior 
to the scheduled date of  meeting. BoD approves its agenda in the meeting that shall not be valid unless it is attended by half 
of  its members, provided that the number of  attendees should be at least three members. Decisions are passed only by 
absolute majority. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of  Association govern BoD meetings and attendance thereof 
and handling the irregular attendance of  BoD meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2018, BoD held 11 meetings as  
tabulated below:

The Board of Directors Meetings During the Year 2018

Name of  Board Member
Meeting 
(1) held 
on 03.01

Meeting 
(2) held 
on 20.02

Meeting 
(3) held 
on 29.03

Meeting 
(4) held 
on 23.05

Meeting 
(5) held 
on 03.07

Meeting 
(6) held 
on 10.07

Meeting 
(7) held on 
23.10

Meeting 
(8) held 
on 28.10

Meeting 
(9) held 
on 18.11

Meeting 
(10) held 
on 04.12

Meeting 
(11) held 
on 13.12

Number  
of 
meetings 

1. Fahed F. Boodai √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11

2. Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11

3. Mohamad T. Al-Tahawy √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11

4. Charles Haresnape Appointed √ √ √ - 3

5. Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim Appointed √ √ √ - 3

3. Recording, handling and filing BoD meetings’ minutes
BoD appointed a Board Secretary from the Company staff to record and maintain all minutes of  the board meetings and the 
reports to be submitted by/to BoD. The Board Secretary is also responsible for coordinating with the BoD members and 
communicate the meeting dates three days prior to the scheduled date.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company’s management maintains a record of  all minutes of  BoD meetings in order of  the years of  the meetings. Such 
record also includes the place, date and start/end time of  BoD meetings.

Rule (2): Assignment of  Roles & Responsibilities

Roles and responsibilities are entrusted to each member of  BoD and executive Management in various forms. The Company’s 
Articles of  Association define the roles and responsibilities of  assigned to BoD. In addition, the BoD Charter defines the BoD 
roles including the task of  overseeing the performance of  executive management and ensuring compliance with the BoD 
approved business strategy and plans. The Executive Committee Charter and the relevant policies and procedures approved 
by BoD assign certain tasks and responsibilities to the executive management. Moreover, the approved Authority Matrix sets 
out all powers and authorities delegated to the executive management and those assigned solely to BoD.

Board of Directors:
BoD is responsible for laying down a company-wide strategy and the key business plans. The other tasks of  BoD include:

• Setting the company-wide targets and strategy, and overseeing the company-wide performance.

• Approving the annual budgets and monitoring any deviation.

• Ensuring compliance by the management with the operating policies and procedures and the related bylaws.

• Approving the interim reviewed and the annual audited financial statements.

• Forming the necessary committees, and overseeing performance of, and discussing the reports presented by, 
those committees.

• Overseeing the performance of  the executive management.

Major Highlights & Achievements in 2018:
1. Considered various projects and investment opportunities, and concluded some of  them. 

2. Approved the company-wise budget for 2018 and the Business Plan for the coming five years (2019-2023).

3. Approved certain policies and procedures in line with CMA instructions.

4. Elected BoD and formed Audit, Risk Management and Nomination & Remuneration Committees.

5. Nominated Mr. Khaled A. Ai-Baijan for the position of  Acting Chief  Executive Officer, provided to hold the same position 
in the early 2019 subject to CMA approval.

BoD Committees:
In order for BoD to fulfill the corporate governance rules in efficient and effective manner, BoD formed three subcommittees 
namely Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee and Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Duties and responsibilities as well as the authorities of  each committee are assigned by BoD and documented in the form 
of  a chart for each committee. Formation of  each committee includes BoD non-executive members, who have the relevant 
expertise. These committees are:

• Audit Committee,

• Risk Management Committee, and

• Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee (AC):
Board Audit Committee (“AC”) promotes the compliance culture within the Company and ensure the integrity of  the financial 
reporting, adequacy and efficiency of  the internal control systems. AC is supervised by, and reports to, the Board of  Directors, 
and submits its recommendations to the Board in terms of  its tasks and findings.

The key responsibilities of  AC include:

• Review the financial statements prior to presentation thereof  to the Board, and present opinions and recommendations 
thereon to the Board.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018
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• Oversee the tasks of  the external auditors, and recommend appointment / re-appointment of  the external auditors and 
fix their fees.

• Study the applicable accounting policies, and express and opinion and submit the necessary recommendations to the 
Board with respect thereto.

• Monitor the comprehensiveness of  external auditing.

• Assess adequacy and efficiency of  the internal control systems, and submit the related recommendations to the Board.

• Supervise the internal auditing to ensure the efficient implementation of  the approved annual plan.

• Review and ratify and the proposed annual internal audit plan.

• Recommend appointment, transfer and dismissal of  the Chief  Internal Auditor, and evaluate his performance.

• Recommend appointment and discharge of  an independent external audit to carry out the internal auditing, and evaluate 
its performance.

• Review the internal audit reports and ensure that all the corrective actions have been initiated to rectify any observations 
or weakness in the Company’s internal control systems, and that Governance Policy is strictly adhered to.

• Review the reports of  the regulatory bodies and ensure that the necessary actions have been taken.

AC Composition:
1) Mohamed Tawfiq Al Tahawy  Chairperson

2) Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim  Member

3) Charles Haresnape   Member

Secretary    Khaled J. Sawan

AC was formed on 23 October 2018 and its membership shall be valid as long as its members hold their positions as BoD members. 
In 2018, AC held 2 meetings.

Risk Management Committee (RMC):
Risk Management Committee (“RMC””) identifies, measures and minimizes the various risks to which the Company exposes, 
develops the appropriate approach to address such risks, and identifies the internal and external factors that may cause risks in 
line with the preset policies, in particular Risk Appetite.

The key responsibilities of  AC include:

• Prepare and review the risk management strategies and policies prior to approval thereof  by the Board of  Directors, and 
ensure that these strategies and policies are duly adopted.

• Develop and assess the systems and mechanisms to identify, measure and monitor the various types of  risks the Company 
may exposed to.

• Assist the Board of  Directors to identify and assess the risk acceptance levels, and ensure that the Company does not 
surpass that level.

• Prepare the periodical reports on the nature of  risks the Company is exposed to, and present the same to the Board  
of  Directors.

• Review the issues/matters presented by the Audit Committee that may affect the risk management function in 
the Company.

RMC Composition:
1) Mohamad Tawfiq Al Tahawy  Chairperson

2) Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim  Member

3) Charles Haresnape   Member

Secretary    Firas N. Alayyoubi

RMC was formed on 23 October 2018 and its membership shall be valid as long as its members hold their positions as BoD members. 
In 2018, AC held 1 meeting.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
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Nomination & Remuneration Committee (NRC):

Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) is concerned with nomination of  the members of  the Board of 
Directors (“BoD” or the “Board”) and its committees and executive management. Such nomination is preliminarily based 
on the professional experience, technical abilities and the good morals and ethics to ensure that nomination serves the best 
interests of  the Company and its shareholders.

In addition, the Committee lays down the policies and bylaws that govern payment of  compensations and benefits for all the 
job levels in the Company including Chairman, Board members and the executive management in line with the Company’s 
long- and short-term strategy and objectives, in order to attract the highly qualified and competent persons and motivate all 
staff to achieve the Company’s objectives.

The key objectives of  NRC are:

• Recommend nomination and re-nomination of  the members of  the Board and Board committees and executive 
management, provided that all nominees should fulfill the requirements stipulated under Capital Markets Authority 
(CMA) instructions regarding efficiency and integrity.

• Review, on an annual basis, of  the requirements of  skills and expertise for the Board membership, and receive applications 
for the executive positions, provided that all applicants should have the required qualifications, experience and expertise.

• Develop the job descriptions for the executive, non-executive and independent members.

• Propose nomination and re-nomination of  the independent members to be elected by the Company’s General Assembly 
and ensure independency of  the independent Board member.

• Develop a remuneration policy in line with the Company’s strategic goals. Such policy shall be applied to all job levels 
within the Company.

• Ensure that remuneration of  each member of  the Board and executive management is duly and equitably granted and 
supports the Company’s long-term goals.

• Define the various categories of  remunerations including fixed and performance-based remunerations.

• Ensure compliance with the remuneration policy and avoid any variation.

• Review the remuneration policy on a regular basis, and assess efficiency of  such policy in achieving the intended targets.

• Prepare an annual detailed report on all remunerations paid to the members of  the Board and executive management, 
of  whatsoever type. Such report should be presented to the Company’s General Assembly for approval.

NRC Composition:
1) Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader  Chairperson

2) Fahed F. Boodai   Member

3) Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim  Member

Secretary    Ohood Abu Ebeid

NRC was formed on 23 October 2018 and its membership shall be valid as long as its members hold their positions as BoD members. 
In 2018, NRC held 1 meeting.

• Mechanism applied for BoD members to obtain accurate information on a timely basis
The executive management provide BoD members with several reports and data to keep BoD updated of  all the Company’s 
activities and running of  its business. Furthermore, BoD and executive management committees provides BoD with the 
necessary reports on a timely basis. BoD is also provided with all information and data regarding the topics included in the 
agenda of  its meetings to enable them make sound decisions based on sufficient and accurate information.

The Company’s management is in process to develop the IT infrastructure by updating the current systems and, hence, develop 
reporting systems in terms of  quality and accuracy of  the reports presented to BoD.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018



23ANNUAL REPORT 2018    |    GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

Rule (3): Selection of  Competent Candidates for BoD and Executive Management

1. Fulfillment of NRC Formation Requirements

NRC is comprised of  3 members including the independent member and presided by a non-executive BoD member. Period 
of  membership and processes are approved by BoD. The Committee meets at least once every year or whenever necessary. 

NRC had approved a clear policy that covers remuneration of  BoD Chairman and members and the various tranches of 
fixed and performance related remuneration. The Committee’s tasks include proposing nomination and re-nomination of  the 
members taking into consideration that nominees must fulfill CMA requirements. 

2. BoD and Executive Management Remuneration Report

Gatehouse Capital adopts a simple and appropriate staff remuneration policy that include a profit-sharing scheme for staff, 
especially the high performing employees in appreciation of  their contribution and to foster their dedication and commitment 
to achieve a targeted minimum profit. This policy aims to increase confidence of  the shareholders by ensuring that the minimum 
profit target shall be realized even before the profit-sharing portion is allotted to staff. 

Staff Remuneration:

The gross pool of  remuneration is proposed at 6%-10% of  net profit before calculation. Such ratio is adjusted for the profit rate 
to the net profit target before remuneration calculation, as shown in the below table.

By end of  each financial year, and concurrently with approval of  the draft financial statements, performance of  each employee 
is assessed against the achievement of  the targets preset for each employee at the beginning of  the year in addition to his/her 
personal skills throughout the year. 

It is worth mentioning that bonus could be paid to certain employees if  they have achieved the target performance such as a 
percent of  the placement fee or the incentive fee collected by the Company even if  the Company’s minimum target profit is 
not achieved, subject to approval of  NRC and BoD approval for CEO and executive management, and CEO approval for the 
other employees.

BoD Remuneration:

A fixed amount of  annual remuneration is recommended for payment to BoD subject to approval of  the Company’s financial 
statements by the general assembly and in conformity with the regulatory and legal requirements. The amount of  remuneration 
is based on the certain criteria like number of  committees in which BoD director is a member beside his/her BoD membership, 
number of  committee meetings attended by the concerned director and annual appraisal of  BoD in terms of  the technical skills 
and personal characteristics relating to Company’s activities.

The following table sets out the remunerations, benefits and compensation paid to BoD and executive management for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018:

Amounts (KD’000)

2018 2017

BoD

Directors’ remuneration and benefits 25 15

Executive management:

Salaries, allowances and leaves 112.031 185.3

Provision for end of  service benefit 9.140 32.6

Variable remuneration 46.050 112.5

No deviation from the approved remuneration policy has been identified during the year.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Rule (4): Integrity of  Financial Reporting 

1. Written Undertakings by BoD and Executive Management for Soundness and Integrity of the Financial Reports

The executive management represented in Chief  Operating Officer and the Financial Controller undertake in writing to BoD 
that the Company’s reports are presented in fair and sound manner.

Within the same context, the Chairman declares and undertakes the accuracy, integrity and soundness of  the financial statements 
furnished to the external auditors, and that the Company’s financial reports are presented in a sound and fair manner in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) applicable to the State of  Kuwait and approved by 
CMA and that it represents the Company’s financial positions as at 31 December 2018, based on the information and reports 
provided by the executive management and the external auditor and the due care exercised, to ensure the soundness and 
accuracy of  these reports.

2. Fulfilment of Audit Committee Formation Requirements

AC is formed in line with the nature of  the Company’s business and include experienced members. AC is comprised of  3 non-
executive members including an independent director. Period of  membership and processes are approved by BoD. AC meets 
at least once every three months or whenever necessary, and minutes of  such meetings should be documented.

In addition, AC promotes the culture of  compliance inside the Company by ensuring the soundness and integrity of  the 
Company’s financial reporting, and adequacy and efficiency of  the internal control systems. The Committee reports to BoD in 
terms of  its duties and findings.

3. Independence and Objectivity of the External Auditor
The Company’s ordinary general assembly appoints the external auditor based on a recommendation of  AC, which ensures 
independence of  the external auditor. The Company’s external auditor is not engaged in any other assignment outside the 
scope of  review and audit. In addition, the external auditor is independent of  the Company and its BoD.

Rule (5): Sound Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

1. Fulfilment of Risk Management Department Formation Requirements
Risk Management Department (RMD) identifies and measure the acceptable Risk Appetite and identify any variation. In 
addition, RMD reports to Risk Management Committee. Risk Management Officer is independent and reports directly to BoD. 
The Company has an acceptable Risk Appetite approved by BoD.

2. Fulfilment of Risk Management Committee Composition Requirements
RMC is comprised of  three members and chaired by a non-executive director. Period of  membership and processes are 
approved by BoD. RMC meets at least once every three months or whenever necessary, and minutes of  such meetings should 
be documented. 

RMC identifies, measures and minimizes the various risks to which the Company exposes, develops the appropriate approach 
to address such risks, and identifies the internal and external factors that may cause risks in line with the preset policies, in 
particular Risk Appetite.

3. Internal control systems
The internal control systems are designed to cover all the Company’s activities and ensure efficiency and effectiveness of 
operations. The internal control systems also ensures the dual control by assigning responsibilities and authorities through the 
approved Authority Matrix and operating policies and procedures that set out all levels of  powers and authorities. In addition, 
the Company ensures segregation of  duties, monitoring of  all transactions that implies conflict of  interest and full disclosure of 
such translations. The Company also adopts the Dual Control principle to all its operations and activities.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018
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4. Fulfilment of Independent Internal Audit Unit Formation Requirements
Internal Audit Unit is established to assess the efficiency and effectiveness of  applied internal control systems. The Unit 
is independent and directly reporting to AC and BoD. Internal Audit Officer is hired by virtue of  a decision by BoD and  
CMA approval.

Rule (6): Promoting Professional Conduct and Ethics

1. Standards of Professional Conduct and Ethics
The Company expects that all its directors and employees exert every effort and act in a manner that reflects and reinforce the 
Company’s image and reputation. The Code of  Conduct & Ethics approved by the company acts as a guide with the aim to: 

• Promote the good conduct that positively affect the Company.

• Create a healthy and user-friendly environment that protects the dignity of  every employee.

• Ensure compliance with the regulations and rules that govern the Company’s operations. 

• Ensure the good and safe use of  the Company’s assets.

Code of  Conduct & Ethics sets out the standard acts of  every manager, officer or employee with the Company’s stakeholders 
and the public. Such Code aims to ensure that the Company is viewed to others as an institution that complies with high 
standards of  integrity in all its transactions. However, such Code does not address all situations and should not be considered 
as an alternative of  practicing the good judgment and behaviours by the Company’s employee. 

Code of Conduct & Ethics

All employees should strive to maintain the Company’s good reputation. In addition, they should:

1. Render a high quality service with high level of  integrity.

2. Not to misuse the powers entrusted to his/her in dealing with any person, complainant or entity.

3. Act in objectivity and integrity towards others in practicing any discretion. 

4. Exercise the authorities entrusted to him in a responsible manner, in particular:

• Carrying out their duties while ensuring integrity and impartiality regardless of  religion, race, political thoughts, etc.

• Act in honour, honesty, respect and transparency.

• Treat all persons equally and fairly.

• Use any authority entrusted to him/her in a reasonable and unbiased manner. 

5. Not to divulge any information he/she obtained during the course of  business, unless the situation so requires to carry 
out his/her duties.

6. Report any act of  bribery or fraud from any source, and act in their personal lives in a manner that does not jeopardize 
the Company or its reputation. 

7. Observe and implement such Code at all times. In case they have doubt that a breach of  this Code or the law has occurred 
or is about to occur, they should report the case to CEO or the Chairman, as appropriate.

2.   Policies and Controls to Minimize the Conflict of Interest
A Conflict of  Interest Policy has been developed to ensure maintenance of  the highest level of  transparency in reporting the 
Company’s operations. Conflict of  interest must be avoided among the employees/directors and their direct family members 
(i.e. spouse, sons/daughters, parents and siblings) and the Company in all their own transactions.

The aforesaid policy is not all-inclusive of  all cases of  potential conflict of  interest. Examples for cases of  conflict of  interest that 
employees and directors should avoid are:

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
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• Gaining any benefit from his/her position as an employee or director in the Company.

• Taking part in any activity that inappropriately interferes with the existing or the prospective business relations  
with others.

• Accept a bribe, undeclared commission or illegal payment against a service related to the Company’s business.

• Accept, or urge any direct family member of  an employee/director, to accept a gift from any person or entity that deals 
with the Company in the cases where such gifts may affect the decision or acts of  that director

Conflict of Interest - General Provisions
BoD should take all the reasonable procedures to detect, avoid or deal with the conflict of  interest between BoD/employee, 
any of  their relative/subsidiaries and their customers, employees and agents, or misuse the confidential information of  those 
customers, in particular the following cases:

1. Executing a transaction for a security to which a Company’s client is party.

2. Executing a transaction for a security by misusing the client’s confidential information.

3. Providing a consultation or a recommendation to a client to enter into a deal/transaction with the purpose of  gaining a 
personal benefit for any of  the Company’s employees or agents. 

4. Divulge any information obtained by any of  the Company’s employees/agents to any other person with the purpose of 
executing a transaction for security to which a Company’s client is a party, or provide a consultation or recommendation 
to another person to execute such transaction.

Conflict of Interest - BoD
BoD should always act in a manner that serves solely the Company’s interests. They should set aside their personal interest 
and discharge their responsibilities for managing the Company in a manner that enhance the public’s trust in BoD’s integrity 
and impartiality.

None of  BoD should receive, directly or indirectly, any gain from his position.

Disclosing Conflict of Interest by a BoD Director
A BoD director should promptly disclose to BoD any case of  actual or potential conflict of  interest.

Interest in Business and Contracts concluded for the Company
A BoD director may not, without approval of  the Company’s general assembly (provided such approval should be renewed 
on an annual basis), be have a direct or indirect interest in the business or contract concluded for the Company, except for the 
business concluded through a public tender if  such director submits the best bid.

A director shall notify BoD of  his/her personal interests in the business and contract concluded for the Company and record 
such notification in the meeting’s minutes. A director having such an interest may not vote on any decision to be passed in this 
respect. In addition, BoD Chairman should inform the Company’s general assembly of  the business and contracts to which he 
is a party. Such notification should be accompanied with a special report prepared by the Company’s auditors.

Interest in Businesses that Compete with the Company’s, and Providing Credit Facilities and Guarantees
No director may take part in any business or activity that competes with the Company’s business. In addition, the Company 
does not extend any type of  credit facilities to its directors or guarantee any loan granted by a contract concluded between the 
director and another entity.

Conflict of Interest - Employees
The Company expects that employees will avoid any personal activity or financial or non-financial interest that may contravene 
their commitment to carry out their duties in an effective manner.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
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No employee may participate in a commercial activity/project that, by its nature, scope or requirements, may:

• Constitute a conflict of  interest that adversely affects the integrity and impartiality of  the employee in performing his/
her duties.

• Contravene the satisfactory performance of  work in the Company or hinder the employee from paying the due attention 
to the daily work.

• Result in risks or misuse of  authorities or information.

• Negatively affect the Company’s interests or reputation.

Rule (7): Accurate and Timely Disclosure & Transparency

1. Accurate and Transparent Presentation & Disclosure 

The management of  Gatehouse Capital is keen to adopt and follow the highest standards of  disclosure and transparency in 
order to ensure the equal and unbiased treatment of  all the existing and potential shareholders and stakeholders. The adopted 
mechanisms of  presentation and disclosures approved by BoD consider accuracy and transparency in presenting the financial 
and non-financial information and data. Furthermore, the Company’s management review the mechanisms and systems of 
disclosure and transparency on a regular basis to ensure adoption thereof  in line with the best international practices.

2. Investor Relations Unit
The Company’s management established an Investor Relations Unit that reports to BoD Deputy Chairman and CEO to ensure 
its independence. The Unit is responsible for providing all information and data to the existing shareholders and investors 
through the generally accepted means of  disclosure including the Company’s Website.

3. Development of IT Infrastructure
The Company’s management pays special attention to development of  IT infrastructure. The key noticeable developments 
include launching the website that has a separate section of  corporate governance along with the interim reviewed and 
annual audited financial statements, disclosures of  the company-related material information and events and the other data 
and information that assist the shareholders, potential investors and stakeholders to exercise their rights and evaluate the 
Company’s performance.

Rule (8): Respecting Shareholders’ Rights

1. Defining and Protecting the Shareholders’ Rights 
The Shareholders & Investors Relations Policy approved by BoD provides for all rights of  the Company’s shareholders and the 
equal and unbiased treatment of  all shareholders holding the same class of  shares. The aforesaid rights include the following: 

• Dealing of  the shares, e.g. registration, transfer, etc.

• Taking part in making the decisions for amendment of  the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of  Association and the 
other extraordinary decisions that may affect the Company’s future/business such as merge, sale of  significant portion 
of  assets or dissolution of  a subsidiary.

• Monitoring the Company’s performance in general and BoD performance in particular.

• Obtaining accurate, comprehensive and sufficient information in a timely manner including the operating and investing 
strategies in order to evaluate the financial statements of  the Company and its performance.

• Charging BoD and executive management members with the responsibilities if  they failed in carrying out their duties.

• Receiving the dividends and voting in the general assembly’s meetings.

• Receiving a portion of  the Company’s assets in case of  liquidation thereof.

• Electing BoD.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
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2. Continuous Follow up of Shareholders related Information 

For continuous monitoring of  the shareholders related information, the Company entered into a contract with Gulf  Custody 
Company to maintain the Shareholders’ register that includes names and nationalities of  the shareholders and the number 
of  shares owned by each shareholder. The aforesaid register is updated with any change made thereto. The Company’s 
shareholders have access to that register, which is always treated as strictly confidential. 

3. Encouraging Shareholders to Take Part and Vote in the General Assembly Meeting 
The Company makes available all the data and information relating to the agenda within sufficient time before the meeting date, 
and give access for all the shareholders to these data and information to enable them take part in the meetings. The Chairman 
or the external auditor replies to all questions and inquiries raised by the shareholders with respect to the Company’s financial 
position, results, operating activities or future plans.

Furthermore, the Company ensures that all shareholders have the chance to vote, in person or by proxy, on the decisions 
passed in the general meeting and for electing BoD members. Attendance of  the general assembly meeting is free of  charge, 
and no preference is granted to any shareholder over the others. 

Rule (9): Recognizing the Role of  the Stakeholders

1. Systems and Policies that Ensure Protection and Recognition of Stakeholders’ Rights:

The Company has developed systems and policies that ensure protection of  the stakeholders’ rights, as the key factor of  the 
Company’s success in achieving its goals is the mutual efforts of  all parties including customers, suppliers, employees, investors 
and the other parties that have business relations with the Company. These systems and policies aim to: 

•  Ensure the equal and fair treatment.

• Receive a compensation in case of  any breach of  their rights stipulated under the regulations and the contracts concluded 
with them.

• Have the same rights and privileges of  BoD and the related parties in making business with the Company. This includes, 
inter alia, compliance by the Company with the Procurement Policy.

• Compliance by the Company with the Privacy and Data Confidentiality Policy.

• Ensure the following is covered under each contract between the stakeholder and the Company:

• Procedures and mechanisms to be followed in case any party fails to fulfill its obligations.

• Procedures to paying compensation in case of  breach.

•  Obtain information of  the related company that may be necessary for the stakeholders.

• Disclose the related information in a clear and express manner.

• Inform them of  the “Whistleblowing Policy” to report any violation in the Company, where such policy ensures protection 
of  the whistleblowers.

• Provide them with a suitable mechanism (in line with the Whistleblowing Policy) in case they need to inform BoD of  any 
inappropriate practices in the Company.

2. Encourage Stakeholders’ to Participate and Follow up on Company’s Business Activities 

The Company’s management encourage stakeholders to take part and participate in following company’s business activities, 
through a systematic policy that put a great emphasis on transparency, and dealing fairly with all stakeholders, and by establishing 
a culture among employees to create a link between staff performance and achieving company’s strategic goals, leading to 
inspire company’s employees to participate in a continued and effective manner in follow up on company’s business activities.

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018



29ANNUAL REPORT 2018    |    GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

Rule (10): Enhancing Performance

1. Fulfilment of Trainings for BoD and Executive Management Requirements
Gatehouse Capital pays special attention to the continued trainings and qualification of  each BoD and executive management 
member due to its belief  that such continued trainings contribute to achievement of  the Company’s goals and ensure that each 
BoD and executive management member carries out his/her assigned task and responsibilities in a timely and efficient manner. 
Such programs and courses consider the training needs and requirements of  BoD or executive management member.

2. Evaluation of BoD and Executive Management Performance
The Company developed Key Performance Indicators “KPIs” to measure and the BoD performance, as a whole, and contribution 
of  each director. In addition, the Company developed KPIs for each board committee and every executive management 
member. Accordingly, performance appraisals are conducted against these KPIs and the preset objectives in order to measure 
any variations and address/resolve the same which ensures the good performance by BoD and executive management members 
and, hence, achieve the Company’s targets.

3. BoD Efforts to Promote and Enhance Organizational Values
The Company strives to promote the organizational values by setting the mechanisms and procedures that help achieve its 
strategic goals and enhance performance. In addition, the Company continually develops the in-house integral reporting system 
to become more comprehensive and, accordingly, assist BoD and executive management members to take the sound decisions.

Rule (11): Focusing on Social Responsibility

A Social Responsibility Policy has been developed and approved to emphasize on the Company’s contributions to community 
and the area in which it exists and operates. The commitment of  any institution towards the society is a key factor of  its success. 
In Gatehouse Capital, we strive to work in line with a sustainable model with the aim to build strong and long-term relations 
with our customers and the other people in the community in which we operate. Our social responsibility is based on our 
values and forms a part of  our day-to-day business activity and our commitment to provide distinct products and services.

To this end, the Company took some initiatives to highlight efforts in social responsibility such as attracting the national 
manpower, and providing necessary trainings to help the national manpower adapt to the business environment and contribute 
to development and prosperity of  Kuwait.

Fahed Faisal Boodai

Chairman
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The attached notes form an integral part of  these consolidated financial statements

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes 2018 2017

INCOME

Asset management fees 987,747 1,143,085

Consultancy and advisory fees 2,124,931 1,849,816

Placement fees 148,195 201,443

Investment income 4 266,930 151,739

Share of  results of  an associate 6 1,061,949 853,829

Impairment of  investment in an associate 6 (151,070) (151,870)

Expected credit loss on financial assets (424,524) -

Other income/expenses 34,763 (651)

4,048,921 4,047,391

EXPENSES

Staff costs 1,052,870 1,350,758

General and administrative expenses 478,097 420,688

Depreciation 5,060 12,254

Murabaha payable costs 13 263,150 -

1,799,177 1,783,700

PROFIT BEFORE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, CONTRIBUTION 
TO KUWAIT FOUNDATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF 
SCIENCES (“KFAS”) AND ZAKAT

2,249,744 2,263,691

Directors' remuneration (note 11(c)) (25,000) (15,000)

Contribution to KFAS (22,497) (22,737)

Zakat (20,240) (21,524)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,182,007 2,204,430

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The attached notes form an integral part of  these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes 2018 2017

 

Profit for the year 2,182,007 2,204,430

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods:

Change in fair value of  financial assets available for sale - 24,283

Realized gain on sale of  financial assets available for sale transferred to the 
consolidated statement of  income - (82,392)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 42,895 (92,551)

Items that will not be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income:
Changes in the fair value of  financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

(36,880) -

Realized gain on sale of  financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

105,888 -

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 111,903 (150,660)

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,293,910 2,053,770

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2018

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

The attached notes form an integral part of  these consolidated financial statements.

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Chairman

Kuwaiti Dinars

 Notes 2018 2017

Non-current assets

Furniture and equipment 3,221 3,251

Investment properties 5 817,411 814,995

Investment in an associate 6 4,495,413 4,411,110

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 7 10,418,376 -

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 1,201,881 -

Financial assets available for sale 9 - 6,834,186

16,936,302 12,063,542

Current assets

Murabaha receivable 10 1,122,996 75,438

Accounts receivable and prepayments 399,561 894,485

Cash and bank balances 434,402 1,784,346

1,956,959 2,754,269

Total ASSETS 18,893,261 14,817,811

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 11 10,000,000 10,000,000

Statutory reserve 11 1,164,025 939,051

Fair value reserve (36,880) -

Foreign currency translation reserve 332,594 289,699

Retained earnings 2,738,621 2,762,784

Total equity 14,198,360 13,991,534

Non-current liability

Employees’ end of  service benefits 50,608 276,331

Current liability

Murabaha payable 12 4,128,307 -

Accounts payable and accruals 515,986 549,946

Total liabilities 4,694,901 826,277

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 18,893,261 14,817,811
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

The attached notes form an integral part of  these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes 2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 2,182,007 2,204,430

Adjustment for:

Investment income 4 (266,930) (151,739)

Share of  results of  an associate 6 (1,061,949) (853,829)

Impairment of  investment in an associate 6 151,070 151,870

Depreciation 5,060 12,254

Provision for employees’ end of  service benefits 54,230 136,485

Murabaha payable costs 263,150 -

1,326,638 1,499,471

Adjustments for changes in working capital:

Murabaha receivable (1,047,558) -

Accounts receivable and prepayments 430,854 27,574

Accounts payable and accruals (56,972) 99,284

Cash from operating activities 652,962 1,626,329

Employees’ end of  service benefits paid (279,955) (257,809)

Net cash flows from operating activities 373,007 1,368,520

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of  furniture and equipment (5,036) (1,227)

Dividend income received from an associate 6 855,906 768,980

Purchase of  financial assets available for sale - (2,523,166)

Proceeds from disposal of  financial assets available for sale - 985,971

Purchase of  financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (8,058,231) -

Proceeds from sale of  financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,223,289 -

Dividend income received 382,393 171,161

Net cash flows used in investing activities (3,601,679) (598,281)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid (2,000,000) (2,000,000)

Net proceeds from Murabaha payable 4,128,307 -

Murabaha costs paid (263,150) -

Net cash flows from/ (used in) financing activities 1,865,157 (2,000,000)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,363,515) (1,229,761)

Net foreign exchange differences 13,571 (22,060)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 1,784,346 3,036,167

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 434,402 1,784,346
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The attached notes form an integral part of  these consolidated financial statements.

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

Kuwaiti Dinars

Share 
capital

Statutory 
reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total

As at 1 January 2017 10,000,000 712,682 58,109 382,250 2,784,723 13,937,764

Profit for the year  -  - - - 2,204,430 2,204,430

Other comprehensive loss  -  - (58,109) (92,551) - (150,660)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income - - (58,109) (92,551) 2,204,430 2,053,770

Transfer to reserve (note 11(b)) - 226,369 - - (226,369) -

Dividends paid (note 11(d)) - - - - (2,000,000) (2,000,000)

As at 31 December 2017 10,000,000 939,051 - 289,699 2,762,784 13,991,534

As at 1 January 2018 10,000,000 939,051 - 289,699 2,762,784 13,991,534

Transition adjustment on adoption of 
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (note 2.6)

- - - - (87,084) (87,084)

Balance as at 1 January 2018 (restated) 10,000,000  939,051 -  289,699  2,675,700  13,904,452

Profit for the year  -  - - - 2,182,007 2,182,007

Other comprehensive income  -  - 69,008 42,895 - 111,903

Total comprehensive income  -  - 69,008 42,895 2,182,007 2,293,910  

Transfer to reserve (note 11(b))  - 224,974 - - (224,974) -

Transfer of realized gain on sale of 
investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income to 
retained earnings

- - (105,888) - 105,888 -

Dividends paid (note 11(d))  -  - - - (2,000,000) (2,000,000)

As at 31 December 2018 10,000,000 1,164,025  (36,880) 332,594 2,738,621 14,198,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018

Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

1. Corporate information and activities
Gatehouse Capital – Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (Closed) (the ‘Company’) is a closed shareholding 
company registered in Kuwait on 13 July 2008. The main objectives of  the Company are as follows:

• Provide financial, management and economic consultations;

• Conduct financial, management and economic studies and researches;

• Organize specialized conferences, forums and workshops;

• Effect transactions in securities (offer or sell) for the account of  the issuer or any of  its affiliates, or buying securities 
from the issuer or its affiliates for the purpose of  re-marketing after appropriate regulatory approval;

• Own movables and immovable properties required for carrying out its business within the limit permitted by law;

• Utilize financial surpluses available to the Company for investment in financial portfolios managed by competent 
companies and authorities.

• Investment portfolio Manager.

• Investment consultant.

• Subscription Agent

The Company is regulated by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) as a licensed person.

The Company’s registered address is 15 Floor, Al Dhow Tower, Sharq, Khalid Bin Al Waleed Street, 

P. O. Box 29120, Safat 13150, Kuwait.

The consolidated financial statements of  the Company and subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), for the year ended 31 
December 2018 were authorized for issue by the Company’s board of  directors on 27 March 2019. The annual general 
assembly of  the shareholders of  the Company has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance. 

The Company is a subsidiary of  Gatehouse Financial Group Limited, United Kingdom (The “Ultimate Parent Company”). 

2. Basis of  preparation and significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of  preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost basis except for the measurement at fair value of  investment properties, financial assets 
classified as at fair value through other comprehensive and financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD) which is the functional currency of  the Company.

2.2 Impact of  changes in accounting policies due to adoption of  new standards
The accounting policies used in the preparation of  these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 
used in the preparation of  the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 except 
for the adoption of  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 January 
2018 as summarised below.

Adoption of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments effective from 1 January 2018. The requirements of  IFRS 9 
represent a significant change from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 sets out the 
requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of  financial assets.

The Group has not restated comparative information for 2017 as permitted by the transitional provisions of  the standard. 
Therefore, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements of  IFRS 9 and is not comparable to 
the information presented for 2018. Differences in the carrying amount of  financial assets resulting from the adoption 
of  IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018 and are disclosed in note 2.6. The key 
changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of  IFRS 9 are summarized below:
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Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflect the business model in 
which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9 contains three classification categories for financial 
assets: measured at Amortised Cost, Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”) and Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”). The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of  held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and available for sale. The Group has evaluated the classification and measurement criteria to be adopted 
for various financial assets considering the IFRS 9 requirements with respect to the business model and contractual cash 
flow characteristics (“CCC”)/solely payment of  principal and profit (“SPPP”). 

The Group’s accounting policies for classification and measurement of  financial assets under IFRS 9 are explained in note 2.6.

The adoption of  IFRS 9 did not have a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies for financial liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment model 
applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income but not to investments in equity investments. Under 

IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. The Group’s accounting policies for impairment of 
financial assets under IFRS 9 is explained in note 2.6.

Adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers effective from 1 January 2018. This standard 
supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue along with related IFRIC 13, IFRIC 15, IFRIC 18 and SIC 
3. The new standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under 
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. 

The Group adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ resulting in no change in the revenue recognition 
policy of  the Group in relation to its contracts with customers and therefore it had no material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective
The following IFRS has been issued but is not yet effective and has not been early adopted by the Group. The Group 
intends to adopt them when they become effective.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted provided the 
new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date. 

IFRS 16 does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recognise 
most leases on their statement of  financial position as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets. Lessees 
must apply a single model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘short-term’ leases and 
leases of  ‘low-value’ assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar to 
today’s finance lease accounting, with interest and depreciation expense recognised separately in the statement of 
income and other comprehensive income.

Lessees must adopt IFRS 16 using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Company does 
not anticipate early adopting IFRS 16 and is currently evaluating its impact.

2.4 Business combination
A business combination is the bringing together of  separate entities or businesses into one reporting entity as a result 
of  one entity, the acquirer, obtaining control of  one or more other businesses. The acquisition method of  accounting 
is used to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition is measured as the 
fair values of  the assets given, equity interests issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of  the exchange. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of  any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018
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arrangement. The acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination (net assets acquired in a business combination) are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Non-controlling interest in the subsidiary acquired is recognized at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of  the acquiree’s net assets.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at 
its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of  income. The 
fair value of  the equity of  the acquiree at the acquisition date is determined using valuation techniques and considering 
the outcome of  recent transactions for similar assets in the same industry in the same geographical region.

The Group separately recognizes contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination if  it is a present obligation that 
arises from past events and its fair value can be measured reliably. 

An indemnification received from the seller in a business combination for the outcome of  a contingency or uncertainty 
related to all or part of  a specific asset or liability that is recognized at the acquisition date at its acquisition-date fair value 
is recognized as an indemnification asset at the acquisition date at its acquisition-date fair value. 

The Group uses provisional values for the initial accounting of  a business combination and recognizes any adjustment to 
these provisional values within the measurement period which is twelve months from the acquisition date.

2.5 Consolidation
The Group consolidates the financial statements of  the Company and subsidiaries (i.e. investees that it controls) and 
investees controlled by its subsidiaries. 

The Group controls an investee if  and only if  the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of  
the investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of  the voting or similar rights of  an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of  the investee;

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

• Voting rights and potential voting rights;

The financial statements of  subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis, from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest in an acquiree is stated at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the recognized 
amounts of  the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date and the non-controlling interest’s share of 
changes in the equity since the date of  the combination. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling 
interests, even if  this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Changes in the Group’s ownership 
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in loss of  control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying 
amounts of  the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interest in the 
subsidiary and any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value 
of  the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the Company’s shareholders. 
Non-controlling interest is presented separately in the consolidated statements of  financial position and income. The 
non-controlling interests are classified as a financial liability to the extent there is an obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset to settle the non-controlling interest.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events 
in similar circumstances based on latest audited financial statements of  subsidiaries. Intra group balances, transactions, 
income, expenses and dividends are eliminated in full. Profits and losses resulting from intra group transactions that are 
recognized in assets are eliminated in full. Intra group losses that indicate an impairment is recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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When the Company loses control of  a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of 
the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost as well as related non-controlling interests. 
Any investment retained is recognized at fair value at the date when control is lost. Any resulting difference along with 
amounts previously directly recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of  income.

2.6 Financial instruments

Recognition and de-recognition of  financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. A financial asset (in whole or in part) is de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows 
from the financial asset has expired or the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of  ownership and 
has not retained control. If  the Group has retained control, it continues to recognize the financial asset to the extent of 
its continuing involvement in the financial asset. 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of  an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of  the original 
liability and recognition of  a new liability. 

All regular way purchase and sale of  financial assets are recognized using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair 
value between the trade date and settlement date are recognized in the consolidated statement of  income or in the 
consolidated statement of  comprehensive income in accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchase or sale of  financial assets that require delivery of  assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place.

Classification of  financial assets and financial liabilities

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be assessed based on a combination of  the entity’s business model for managing the 
assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.

Business model assessment 

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of  financial assets to 
achieve its business objective. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from 
the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of  assets. If  neither of  these 
is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of  ‘Sell’ 
business model and measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss. The Group’s business model is based on observable 
factors such as.

• How the performance of  the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated 
and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

• The risks that affect the performance of  the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 
model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;

• How managers of  the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair 
value of  the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

The expected frequency, value and timing of  sales are also important aspects of  the Group’s assessment

Assessment of  whether contractual cash flows are Solely Payments of  Principal and Profit (SPPP test)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and 
sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ contractual cash flows represent Solely Payments of  Principal 
and Profit (the ‘SPPP test’).

‘Principal’ for the purpose of  this test is defined as the fair value of  the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over 
the life of  the financial asset (for example, if  there are repayments of  principal or amortization of  the premium/discount).
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The most significant elements of  interest within a basic lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time 
value of  money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin. To make the SPPP assessment, the Group 
applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and 
the period for which the interest rate is set.

The Group classifies its financial assets upon initial recognition into the following categories:

• Financial assets carried at amortised cost (AC)

• Investment securities at FVTPL

• Investment securities at FVOCI

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if  it meets both of  the following conditions:

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

• The contractual terms of  the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPP on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Cash and bank balances, Accounts receivable and prepayments and Murabaha receivable in the nature of  financial assets 
are classified as financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Investment securities at FVTPL

The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading when they have been purchased or issued primarily for short-term 
profit making through trading activities or form part of  a portfolio of  financial instruments that are managed together, 
for which there is evidence of  a recent pattern of  short-term profit taking. In addition, on initial recognition, the Group 
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or 
at FVOCI as at FVTPL, if  doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
Included in this classification are certain, equities securities that have been acquired principally for the purpose of  selling 
or repurchasing in the near term.

Investment securities at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some of  its equity investments as equity instruments 
at FVOCI when they meet the definition of  Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held 
for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Equity instruments at FVOCI are 
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to consolidated 
statement of  income. Dividends are recognised in consolidated statement of  income, when the right of  the payment 
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of  part of  the cost of  the 
instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded in consolidated statement of  income and other comprehensive 
income. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. Upon disposal, cumulative gains or 
losses are reclassified from fair value reserve to retained earnings in the consolidated statement of  changes in equity.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
The Group classifies its financial instruments as “at fair value through profit or loss”, “loans and receivables”, or “available 
for sale” and its financial liabilities as “other than at fair value through profit or loss”. Management determines the 
appropriate classification of  each instrument at the time of  acquisition.

Measurement of  financial assets and financial liabilities
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value of  the consideration given plus transaction costs except 
for financial instruments classified as ”at fair value through profit or loss”. Transaction costs on financial instruments 
classified as “at fair value through profit or loss” are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of  income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These are financial assets that are either held for trading or are designated as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category only if  they are acquired principally for the 
purpose of  generating profit from short-term fluctuations in price or if  so designated by the management upon initial 
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recognition if  they are managed and their performance is evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Financial assets classified as financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured and carried at fair value. Resultant unrealised gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are included in the consolidated statement of  income. Derivatives are classified as “held 
for trading” unless they are designated as hedges and are effective hedging instruments

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. These are carried at amortized cost using effective interest method, less any provision for impairment

Available for sale

These are non derivative financial assets not included in any of  the above classifications and are principally those acquired 
to be held for an indefinite period of  time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest 
rate or equity prices. These are subsequently measured and carried at fair value and any resultant unrealised gains 
or losses are recognised in consolidated statement of  comprehensive income. When the “available for sale” asset is 
disposed off or impaired, the related accumulated fair value adjustments are transferred to the consolidated statement 
of  income as realised gains or losses

Financial liabilities/equity

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Equity interests are 
classified as financial liabilities if  there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset.

Impairment of  financial assets

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The Group recognizes expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets that are measured at amortized cost in accordance 
with IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model. The expected credit 
loss of  a financial instrument is measured in a way that reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount determined 
by evaluating range of  possible outcomes; the time value of  money; and past events, current conditions and forecast of 
future economic conditions. The ECL model applies to all financial instruments except investments in equity instruments. 
The methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of  future economic conditions are reviewed regularly.

IFRS 9 introduces a three-stage approach to measuring ECL under the general approach. Assets migrate through the 
following three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or that 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses (‘ECL’) are recognized. 
12-month ECL are the expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after 
the reporting date. It is not the expected cash shortfalls over the 12-month period but the entire credit loss on an asset 
weighted by the probability that the loss will occur in the next 12 months. The Group considers a financial asset to have 
low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of  “investment grade”.

Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless 
they have low credit risk at the reporting date) but that do not have objective evidence of  impairment. For these assets, 
lifetime ECL are recognized. Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of  the financial instrument. Expected credit losses are the weighted average credit losses with 
the probability of  default (‘PD’) as the weight. When determining whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has 
increased significantly, management considers reasonable and supportable information available, in order to compare 
the risk of  a default occurring at the reporting date with the risk of  a default occurring at initial recognition of  the 
financial instrument. When the Group is not able to measure expected credit losses on an individual instrument basis 
due to cost and effort constraints, it determines significant increases in credit risk on a collective basis, and for this 
purpose groups financial instruments on the basis of  shared credit risk characteristics.

Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of  impairment at the reporting date based on factors that 
include financial difficulty of  the customer or a default or past due event. For these assets, lifetime ECL are recognized 
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as the difference between the financial asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of  the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Any adjustments to the carrying amount of  the financial asset arising from expected credit losses is recognized in the 
statement of  income as an impairment gain or loss and the loss allowance for ECL is presented as a deduction from the 
gross carrying amount of  the financial assets at amortised cost.

ECL are the discounted product of  the Probability of  Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default 
(LGD). The PD represents the likelihood of  a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either over the next 
12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of  the obligation. EAD represents the expected 
exposure in the event of  a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the financial instruments 
and potential changes to the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation.

The EAD of  a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. The LGD represents expected loss conditional on default, its 
expected value when realised and the time value of  money.

The Group recognizes ECL for cash and bank balances using the general approach described above. 

The Group applies simplified approach to measuring credit losses for account receivables and murabaha receivables. 
The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items based on historical credit loss experience based on the 
past due status of  the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of  future economic 
conditions. Accordingly, accounts receivable and murabaha receivable which are not credit impaired and which do not 
have significant financing component are categorised under stage 2 and lifetime ECL is recognised.

Event of  default

The Group considers an event of  default has occurred when information developed internally or obtained from external 
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by 
the Group). Irrespective of  this criteria, the Group considers that a default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
A financial asset is impaired if  its carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. An assessment is 
made at each statement of  financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial 
asset or a group of  similar assets may be impaired. If  such evidence exists, the asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount of  an interest bearing instrument is determined based on the net present value of 
future cash flows discounted at original effective interest rates; and of  an equity instrument is determined with reference 
to market rates or appropriate valuation models. Any impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income. For “available for sale” equity investments, reversals of  impairment losses are recorded as increases in fair 
valuation reserve through equity.

Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of  recovery

Transition to IFRS 9
Net impact from the adoption of  IFRS 9 and 15 on opening retained earnings and non-controlling interests as at 1 
January 2018 is as follows:

Kuwaiti Dinars

Retained earnings 

Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017) 2,762,784

Impact on reclassification and re-measurements:

Expected Credit Losses under IFRS 9 on financial assets at amortized cost related to the 
Group (see below)

(87,084)

Opening balance under IFRS 9 on date of  initial application of  1 January 2018 2,675,702
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Classification of  financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of  initial application of  IFRS 9

The following table shows a reconciliation of  original measurement categories and carrying value in accordance with IAS 
39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Group’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018.

Original 
classification 
under IAS 39

New 
classification 
under IFRS 9

Original carrying 
amount under 

IAS 39

Re-
measurement 

ECL

New carrying 
amount under 

IFRS 9

Financial assets
Investment securities AFS FVTPL 1,319,760 - 1,319,760

Investment securities AFS FVOCI 5,514,426 - 5,514,426

Accounts receivable and 
prepayments

Loans and 
receivables

Amortised cost 894,485 (11,646) 882,839

Murabaha receivable
Loans and 
receivables

Amortised cost 75,438 (75,438) -

Cash and bank balances
Loans and 
receivables

Amortised cost 1,784,346 - 1,784,346

Total financial assets 9,588,455 (87,084) 9,501,371

Adoption of  IFRS 9 did not result in any change in classification or measurement of  financial liabilities

2.7 Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of  a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

• The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of  an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of  relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of  unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the  
   entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2  -  inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset  
   or liability either directly or indirectly; and.

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices. Bid 
prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of  investments in mutual funds, unit trusts 
or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of  a similar investment, 
discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes. 

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the 
current market rate of  return for similar financial instruments.

For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of  fair value cannot be determined, the investment 
is carried at cost less impairment.
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The fair value measurement of  a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of  each reporting period.

For the purpose of  fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of  assets and liabilities on the basis of  the 
nature, characteristics and risks of  the asset or liability and the level of  the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.8 Furniture and equipment
Furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if  any. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of  the asset as follows. 

Furniture and fixtures  3 years

Office equipment   3 years

Decorations   5 years

Vehicles    5 years

The carrying values of  furniture and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If  any such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of  an item of  furniture and equipment that is accounted for separately 
is capitalized and the carrying amount of  the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure 
is capitalized only when it increases future economic benefits of  the related item of  furniture and fixtures. All other 
expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of  income as the expense is incurred. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. The 
residual value, useful lives and methods of  depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if  appropriate, at each financial year end.

2.9 Investment properties 
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, 
but not for sale in the ordinary course of  business, use in the production or supply of  goods or services or for  
administrative purposes.

Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein 
recognised in consolidated statement of  income. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of  the investment property. 

Fair values of  investment properties are determined by appraisers having an appropriate recognised professional 
qualification and recent experience in the location and category of  the property being valued. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of  an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from 
disposal and the carrying amount of  the item) is recognised in consolidated statement of  income. 

When the use of  a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date of 
reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

2.10 Investment in an associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of  the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of  associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of  accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of  financial position at cost and adjusted 
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thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of  the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of  the associate. When 
the Group’s share of  losses of  an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of  the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues 
recognising its share of  further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf  of  the associate.

Any excess of  the cost of  acquisition over the Group’s share of  the net fair value of  the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of  an associate recognised at the date of  acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included 
within the carrying amount of  the investment. Any excess of  the Group’s share of  the net fair value of  the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of  acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated statement of  income. 

The requirements of  IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Groups investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of  the investment 
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of  value in use and fair value less costs of  disposal) with its carrying amount.

Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of  the carrying amount 
of  the investment. Any reversal of  that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of  the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of  the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate. 
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group 
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition 
in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of  the associate at the date the equity method 
was discontinued, and the fair value of  any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of  a part interest in the 
associate is included in the determination of  the gain or loss on disposal of  the associate. In addition, the Group accounts 
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis 
as would be required if  that associate had directly disposed of  the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if  a gain or 
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of  the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) when the associate is disposed of. 

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity method, the 
Group reclassifies to statement of  income the proportion of  the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in 
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if  that gain or loss would be reclassified to 
profit or loss on the disposal of  the related assets or liabilities. 

When a group entity transacts with an associate of  the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of  interests in the associate 
that are not related to the Group.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of  the consolidated statement of  cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes bank balances and cash 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of  cash with original maturities up to three months from the date of 
acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of  change in value.

2.12 Post-employment benefits
The Group is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to employees at cessation 
of  employment. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is based on the liability that would arise on involuntary 
termination of  all employees on the reporting date. This basis is considered to be a reliable approximation of  the present 
value of  this liability.

2.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured regardless of  when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
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consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or 
duty. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

• Gain or losses on sale of  financial assets are recognised when the risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer.

• Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

• Asset management and Placement fees are recognised over the period of  time as the Group satisfies the 
performance obligation by transferring the promised services to the customer. 

• Consultancy and advisory fees is recognised point in time as the Group satisfies the performance obligation by 
transferring the promised services to the customer. 

• Murabaha income is recognised on a time proportion basis so as to yield a constant periodic rate of  return based 
on the balance outstanding.

2.14 Foreign currencies
Foreign currencies transactions are recorded at rates of  exchange ruling at the date of  the transactions. Monetary assets 
and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of  exchange ruling 
at the reporting date. Any resultant gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of  income.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 
on the date when the fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary items classified as “at fair value 
through profit or loss” are reported as part of  the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of  income whereas 
as those on non-monetary items classified as “available for sale” financial assets are included in consolidated statement of 
income and comprehensive income.

The income and cash flow statements of  foreign operations are translated into the Company’s reporting currency at 
average exchange rates for the year and their statement of  financial position are translated at exchange rates ruling at the 
year-end. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations (including goodwill) 
are taken to the consolidated statement of  comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, any resultant exchange 
differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of  income as part of  the gain or loss on sale. 

2.15 Taxation

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of  Sciences (KFAS) 

The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of  the profit in accordance with the KFAS Foundation’s Board 
of  Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year 
when determining the contribution. 

Zakat 

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of  the profit of  the Group in accordance with the Ministry of  Finance resolution 
No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007. 

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries 

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of  the tax rates applicable and prescribed according to the 
prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of  the countries where these subsidiaries operate. Income tax payable on 
taxable profit (“current tax”) is recognized as an expense in the year in which the profits arise in accordance with the 
fiscal regulations of  the respective countries in which the Group operates.

2.16 Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognized as an asset until realisation becomes virtually certain. Contingent liabilities, other 
than those arising on acquisition of  subsidiaries, are not recognized as a liability unless as a result of  past events it is 
probable that an outflow of  economic resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation; 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities arising in a business combination are recognized if  their 
fair value can be measured reliably.
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2.16 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
Judgments 

In the process of  applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart 
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognized in the consolidated  
financial statements. 

Significant increase in credit risk 

As explained in note 2.6, ECL is measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or life time ECL for 
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
In assessing whether the credit risk of  an asset has significantly increased, the Company takes into account qualitative 
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Structured entities 

The Group uses judgement in determining which entities are structured entities. If  the voting or similar rights are not 
the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity and such voting rights relate to the administrative tasks only 
and the relevant activities are directed by means of  contractual arrangements, the Group identifies such entities as 
structured entities. After determining whether an entity is a structured entity, the Company determines whether it 
needs to consolidate this entity based on the consolidation principles of  IFRS 10. The management of  the Company has 
determined that it does not have any interest in consolidated structured entities as at the reporting date. 

The Company considers itself  the sponsor of  certain limited liability companies that are Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) 
for the Company’s asset management activities. These SPVs are used to raise funds from the Group’s clients on the 
basis of  product offering memorandum with eventual objectives of  investments in specified asset classes as defined in 
the offering documents of  the SPVs. These SPVs are managed on a fiduciary basis by the Company’s asset management 
teams and as the Company does not control these SPVs as at the reporting date in accordance with the definition of 
control in IFRS 10, these SPVs are not consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Company 
has not transferred any assets to these SPVs during the year. 

The Company’s investment in these SPV’s are included in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income amounting to KD 10,418,376 (2017: included in financial assets available for sale: KD 5,514,426). 

Classification of  investments- Applicable from 1 January 2018 

The Group determines the classification of  financial instrument based on the assessment of  the business model within 
which the assets are held and assessment of  whether the contractual terms of  the financial instrument are solely 
payments of  principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Refer note 2.6 classification of  financial assets 
for more information.

Classification of  investments- Applicable before 1 January 2018 

On acquisition of  an investment, management has to decide whether it should be classified as “at fair value through 
profit or loss”, “available for sale” or as “loans and receivables”. In making that judgment the Group considers the 
primary purpose for which it is acquired and how it intends to manage and report its performance. Such judgment 
determines whether it is subsequently measured at cost or at fair value and if  the changes in fair value of  instruments 
are reported in the statement of  income or directly in equity.

Impairment of financial assets available for sale -Applicable before 1 January 2018
The Group treats “financial assets available for sale” equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant 
or prolonged decline in their fair value below their cost. The determination of  what is “significant” or “prolonged” 
requires significant judgement. In addition, the Group also evaluates among other factors, normal volatility in the share 
price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. Impairment may be 
considered appropriate when there is evidence of  deterioration in the financial position of  the investee, industry and 
sector performance; changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.

Impairment of investment in associates 

After application of  the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associates at each reporting date based on existence of  any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. 
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Classification of  real estate property 

Management decides on acquisition of  a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, property held for 
development or investment property.

The Group classifies property as trading property if  it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of  business. 
The Group classifies property as investment property under development if  it is acquired with the intention of 
development. The Group classifies property as investment property if  it is acquired to generate rental income or for 
capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

Estimation of  uncertainty 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of  estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of  causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of  assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below: 

Valuation of  unquoted equity investments 

Valuation of  unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of  the following: 

• Recent arm’s length market transactions;

• Current fair value of  another instrument that is substantially the same; or 

• The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics; 

The determination of  the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires significant estimation. 

Impairment of  financial assets - Applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group estimates expected credit loss for all financial assets carried at amortised cost or fair value through 
consolidated statement of  income except for equity instruments. The determination of  expected credit loss involves 
significant use of  external and internal data and assumptions. Refer note 2.6 impairment of  financial assets for  
more information.

Impairment of  receivables - Applicable before 1 January 2018

An estimate of  the collectible amount of  receivables is made when collection of  the full amount is no longer probable. For 
individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually 
significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of  time past 
due, based on historical recovery rates.

3. Subsidiaries

Name of Company
Country of 

incorporation
Percentage of 

ownership Principal activities
2018 2017

Subsidiaries

Blue Pillar Advisory Ltd. Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Investment management 
services

Dhow Holdings Corporation (“DHC”) Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Investment and real estate 
activities

CSM Funding Company Ltd. Cayman Islands 100% -
Investment and real estate 
activities

Global Securities House France S.A.S. France - 100% Investment advisory services 

Held through DHC

Global Securities House USA, Inc (“GSH USA”) USA 100% 100%
Investment and real estate 
activities

During the current year, Global Securities House France S.A.S. was liquidated. The company incurred loss on liquidation 
amounting to KD 19,568 that was included in general and administrative expenses.
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4. Investment income

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Dividend income 382,393 171,161

Unrealized loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 8) (117,879) -

Unrealized gain on investment properties (note 5) 2,416 124,303

Realized gain on sale of  financial assets available for sale - 98,505

Impairment loss on financial assets available for sale (note 9) - (242,230)

266,930 151,739

5. Investment properties

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

As at 1 January  814,995 690,692

Change in fair value (note 4)  2,416 124,303

817,411 814,995

Investment properties are located at the Sultanate of  Oman and are stated at fair value. The fair value of  the 
property is based on lower of  two external valuations carried out by accredited independent valuators using market  
comparable approach. 

The Company’s objects do not include investing in investment properties.

Under market comparison approach, fair value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The market comparison 
approach is based upon the principal of  substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay more for the property 
than it will cost to buy a comparable substitute property. The unit of  comparison applied by the Group is the price per 
square meter (“sqm”). 

Description of  key inputs to valuation of  investment properties: 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted average)

Market comparison approach Price per sqm KD 8 – 41

The fair value of  the investment is determined using the market comparable approach, adjusted for size of  plots and 
location; hence categorized under level 3 of  the fair value hierarchy (note 15). 

6. Investment in an associate
Details of  the associate are shown below.

Name of Company
Country of 

incorporation
Percentage of 

ownership Principal activities

Held through GSH USA

Weaver Point Capital Advisors, LLC  
(“Weaver Point”)

USA 65% 65% Real estate advisory 

The Group has accounted for the associate using equity method in accordance with IAS 28: Investment in Associates 
and Joint Ventures, as the Group does not have power over Weaver Point and the ability to use its power over Weaver 
Point to affect its returns and hence does not have control over the associate under IFRS 10. 
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The movement in the carrying value of  the associate are as follows: 

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

As at 1 January  4,411,110 4,548,622

Share of  results 1,061,949 853,829

Dividend received (855,906) (768,980)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 29,330 (70,491)

Impairment (151,070) (151,870)

4,495,413 4,411,110

The share of  results is net of  priority distribution of  KD 818,341 (2017 incentive distribution: KD 488,462).

The following table illustrates summarized financial information of  Weaver Point:

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 2,801,189 2,328,589

Total liabilities (95,606) (48,837)

Priority distribution (818,341) -

Net assets 1,887,242 2,279,752

Revenues 3,621,304 3,440,233

Profit for the year (net of  priority distribution) 1,640,041 2,065,063

Share of  associate’s net assets 1,159,113 940,985

Goodwill 3,336,300 3,470,125

Carrying amount of  interest in an associate 4,495,413 4,411,110

Impairment testing of  goodwill 
Goodwill relating to Weaver Point was tested for impairment by management as at 31 December 2018 which resulted 
in the recognition of  an impairment loss amounting to KD 151,070 (2017: KD 151,870). The management believes that 
there is no objective evidence on circumstances that indicates any further impairment in the value of  its investment  
in associate.

The recoverable amount of  the investment in Weaver Point has been determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Management Committee of  Weaver Point 
covering a 5-year period (2019 to 2023). The following rates were used: 

2018 2017

Discount rate 15.0% 15.0%

Projected compounded annual growth for income 6.7% 7.3%

Terminal growth rate 2.0% 2.0%

Discount rate 
Discount rate reflects the current market assessment of  the risk specific to Weaver Point, which is a real estate advisory 
company located in the United States specialized in real estate advisory services in accordance with the Sharia principles. 
The discount rate was estimated based on the average percentage of  a weighted cost of  capital for the investment 
advisory industry determined on a pre-tax basis. This rate was further adjusted to reflect the market assessment of  any 
risks specific to Weaver Point for which future estimates of  cash flows have been adjusted after appropriate discount 
rate as Weaver Point is not listed on any secondary capital market. 
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions: 

Weaver Point strategic business plan is to provide real estate structuring advisory and real estate asset management. The 
calculation of  value-in-use for Weaver Point is most sensitive to projected compounded annual growth rate of  Weaver 
Point’s revenues and discount rate.

7. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Unquoted foreign equity securities 10,418,376 -

During the year, the Group had an unrealised loss on unquoted equity securities amounting to KD 36,880 (2017: Nil). 

8. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Unquoted foreign equity securities 1,201,881 -

This represents an investment in a related party (note 13). During the year, the Group had an unrealised loss on 
unquoted equity securities amounting to KD 117,879 (2017: Nil) (note 4).

9. Financial assets available for sale
Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Unquoted foreign equity securities - 6,834,186

During the previous year, an impairment loss of  KD 242,230 (note 4) was recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income to account for the adverse circumstances affecting certain financial assets available for sale, thus reducing the 
value of  these financial assets available for sale to its recoverable amount.

10. Murabaha receivable
This represents the Group’s interest in unsecured Murabaha provided by a subsidiary company to an unrelated party.  
During the year, the Group has incurred an Expected credit loss on financial assets of  KD 506,029 on this Murabaha 
(2017: Nil) (note 14).The Group expects to collect the outstanding Murabaha balance at 31 December 2018 in full 
during 2019.

11. Share capital, reserves, directors’ remuneration and proposed dividend

a. Share capital
The authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital comprises of  100,000,000 (2017: 100,000,000) shares of  100 fils 
(2017: 100 fils) each, which is fully paid in cash. 

b. Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of  Association, 10% of  the profit for the year 
attributable to equity holders of  the Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat, and Directors’ remuneration has 
been transferred to statutory reserve. The Group may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve 
equals 50% of  the paid-up capital. The statutory reserve is not available for distribution except in certain circumstances 
stipulated by law. 

Distribution of  the reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of  a dividend of  5% of  paid up 
share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of  a dividend of  that amount
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c. Directors’ remuneration

The Directors’ remuneration of  KD 25,000 (2017: KD 15,000) is in accordance with the local regulations and is subject 
to approval of  the shareholders’ in the annual general meeting.

d. Dividends
Dividends – 2017

The annual general meeting of  shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2017 held on 23 October 2018 approved 
distribution of  cash dividends of  KD 2,000,000.

12. Murabaha payable
Murabaha payable represents the value of  assets purchased on a deferred settlement basis from a related party (note 
13). The balance is comprised of  two unsecured short-term murabahas and carry profit rate of  7.0% each.

13. Related party transaction
Related parties represent the Ultimate Parent Company, key management personnel of  the Group and entities 
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of  these transactions 
are approved by the Company’s management. 

Balances and transactions with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Kuwaiti Dinars

2018 2017

Consolidated statement of financial position:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 8) 1,201,881 -

Financial assets available for sale - 1,319,760

Other receivables  - 160,186

Murabaha payable (note 12) (4,128,307) -

Accounts payable and accruals (39,615) (64,557)

Consolidated statement of income:
Consultancy and advisory fee income - 10,440

Other income 4,185 -

General and administrative expenses (12,000) (12,000)

Murabaha payable costs (263,150) -

Key management compensation

Salaries and other short term benefits 158,081 279,133

Employees' end of  services benefits 9,140 41,163

167,221 320,296

14. Risk management
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of  ongoing identification, measurement and 
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of  risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing 
profitability and each within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. 

The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into profit rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s policy is to monitor those business risks through the Group’s strategic 
planning process. No changes were made in the risk management objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation. Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit risk, consist principally of  bank 
balances and other receivables. The Group’s bank balances is held with high credit quality banks and financial institutions. 
The Group seeks to limit its credit risk also by dealing with credit worthy counter parties and regularly monitoring its 
outstanding receivables. The bank balances are from counter parties who are under investment grade credit rating.

Gross Maximum Exposure to credit risk
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of  the consolidated statement of 
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of  mitigation through the use of  master 
netting and collateral agreements, if  any:

Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2018 1 January 2018
Approach Gross  

carrying 
amount at 

default 

ECL Net 
carrying 
amount

Gross  
carrying 

amount at 
default

ECL Net 
carrying 
amount

Murabaha receivable Simplified 1,538,480 (415,484) 1,122,996 75,438 (75,438) -

Accounts receivable 
and prepayments

Simplified 405,140 (5,579) 399,561 894,485 (11,646) 882,839

Cash and bank balances General 434,402 - 434,402  1,784,346 - 1,784,346

2,773,585 (421,063) 1,956,959 2,754,269 (87,084) 2,667,185

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance that has been recognized for accounts receivables and 
murabaha receivable from customers: 

Kuwaiti Dinars

Murabaha 
receivable

Accounts 
receivable

1 January 2018 ECL balances under IAS 39 - -

Adjustment on initial application of  IFRS 9 75,438 11,646

1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 75,438 11,646

increase /(Decrease) in loss allowance 340,046 (6,067)

Loss allowance as of  31 December 2018 415,484 5,579

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk 
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of  changes in values. 

Other than the provision for impaired receivables above, the Group does not have any other significant credit risk 
exposure to any single counterparty or any group of  counterparties having similar characteristics. It is not the practice 
of  the Group to obtain collateral against receivables. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financials assets. To manage this risk, the Group periodically assesses the 
financial viability of  customers and invests in short-term murabaha or other investments that are readily realisable. The 
maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.

All the financial liabilities of  the Group are payable within one year from the statement of  financial position date.
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of  a financial instrument will fluctuate because of  changes in 
market prices. Market risk comprises of  three types of  risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk.

Profit rate risk 

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of 
financial instruments. The Group is not significantly exposed to profit rate risk as a result of  mismatches of  profit rate 
re-pricing of  assets and liabilities since it does not hold significant floating rate Islamic financial assets and Islamic financial 
liabilities that could have a material impact on the Group’s profit. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of  a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 

The Group monitors the positions on an ongoing basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits and 
performs a continuous assessment of  the Group’s open positions and current and expected exchange rate movements. 

The effect on profit (due to change in the fair value of  monetary assets and liabilities), with all other variables held 
constant is shown below as at 31 December: 

Kuwaiti Dinars

Change percentage Effect on Profit
Currency (+/-) 2018 2017

USD 3% 14,955 63,618

GBP 3% 2,699 14,217

Equity price risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of  financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of  changes in market prices, 
whether these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all 
instruments, traded in the market. Equity price risk is managed by the Group through diversification of  investments in 
terms of  geographical distribution and industry concentration. 

The Group has unquoted equity securities in available for sale category where the impact of  changes in equity prices will 
only be reflected in the consolidated statement of  income when the financial asset is sold or deemed to be impaired. 
The Group is not exposed to any other equity price risk. 

Prepayment risk 

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or 
request repayment earlier or later than expected. The Group is not significantly exposed to prepayment risk. 

15. Fair value measurement
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of  the Group’s assets. 

Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through Profit or loss - -  1,201,881 1,201,881
Financial assets at fair value through  other 
comprehensive income

- - 10,418,376 10,418,376 

Investment properties - -  817,411  817,411 
- - 12,441,612 12,441,612
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Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets available for sale - - 5,514,426 5,514,426

Investment properties - - 814,995 814,995

- - 6,329,421 6,329,421

The following table shows a reconciliation of  the opening and closing amount of  Level 3 assets which are recorded at 
fair value.

Kuwaiti Dinars

1 January Gain/(Loss) 
recorded 

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

income

Gain/(Loss) 
recorded in 

comprehensive 
income

Net 
purchase, 
sales and 

settlements

31 December

Level 3

2018 6,329,421 (115,463) 72,952 6,154,702 12,441,612

2017 4,869,757 (19,422) 58,109 1,420,977 6,329,421

16. Capital risk management
The primary objective of  the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments 
to it, in light of  changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or borrow from Islamic  
financial institutions. 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 
December 2017. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of  financial position, plus 
net debt. The Group has no external borrowings.

17. Comparative Information
Certain corresponding figures for 2017 have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentation of 
financial statements for the current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit or  
shareholders’ equity.
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